Case Nos. 23-CV-777 & 24-CV-562

Received 12/17/2024 03:46 PM IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

MICHAEL A. SARACO Appellant,

V.

MEDSTAR-GEORGETOWN MEDICAL CENTER, INC. ET AL. Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF OF APPELLANT MICHAEL A. SARACO

Patrick G. Senftle #412191 PRESSLER, SENFTLE & WILHITE P.C. 1432 K Street, N.W. Twelfth Floor Washington, D.C. 20005 (202) 822-8384 psenftle@presslerpc.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

Case Nos. 23-CV-777 & 24-CV-562

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

MICHAEL A. SARACO Appellant,

V.

MEDSTAR-GEORGETOWN MEDICAL CENTER, INC. ET AL. Appellees.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the trial court erred when striking Plaintiff's expert and granting summary judgement on the basis that Plaintiff's expert had not established a foundation and basis for his knowledge of the national standard of care for the performance of a laminectomy.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in holding, as a matter of law, that there was no genuine issue of fact concerning the level of Plaintiff's preoperative pain on his first post-operative visit and thereby concluding that Vikram Nayer M.D.'s had no further duty to order additional MRI imaging notwithstanding Plaintiff's subsequent ongoing medical condition.
- 3. Whether the trial court erred in holding that Plaintiff's expert opinion on the national standard of care for ordering of additional MRI imaging following a laminectomy was too broad to allow Dr. Nayer to measure his actions.
- 4. Whether the trial court erred when striking Plaintiff's expert and granting summary judgement on the basis that Plaintiff's expert had not established a foundation and basis for his knowledge of the national standard of care for the ordering of additional MRI imaging following a laminectomy procedure.

STATEMENT OF CASE

On October 18, 2020, Plaintiff Michael A. Saraco filed a medical malpractice action against Defendant Medstar-Georgetown Medical Center, Inc. On August 18, 2023, the trial court granted Defendant's Motion to Exclude Testimony of Plaintiff's Expert and for Summary Judgment. On September 14, 2023, Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Court's Order of August 18, 2023. On June 14, 2024, the trial court denied Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration. On September 15, 2023 and June 18, 2024, Plaintiff timely filed his notices of appeal. By Order of July 24, 2024, this court consolidated the subject appeals for all purposes.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff Michael Saraco was a career Metropolitan Police officer.¹ On April 24, 2017, Plaintiff was pushing a vehicle out of the roadway in the line of duty and experienced back pain radiating down his legs. (App. 59-60). At the L4-5 level, MRI imaging of May 5, 2017 revealed "moderate facet and ligamentum flavum hypertrophy and epidural lipomatosis at L4-5 causing severe spinal canal stenosis with compression of the thecal sac and bilateral neural foraminal narrowing." (App. 190-191).² On July 19, 2017, while within the scope of his employment with Medstar-Georgetown Medical Center, Inc., Vikram Nayer, M.D. performed a laminectomy on Plaintiff. (App. 21-28, ¶ 5; App. 192-193).

Plaintiff identified Brian Holmes, M.D. as a neurological expert on issues including liability, causation, and damages. (App. 79-84)³ Dr. Holmes advanced

¹By consent Praecipe, the parties dismissed the Defendant Medstar-Georgetown University Hospital which is a trade name. The only appellee in this appeal is Medstar-Georgetown Medical Center, Inc. (App. 30).

²At the L4 level, the L4 nerve passes through exit holes (neural foramen or intervertebral foramen) on both sides as the nerve splits off from the main spinal cord. In Plaintiff's case, overgrown facets joints (also anatomically known as "superior articular process") severely impinged on the L4 nerve root as it entered the neural foramen on both sides. The overgrown facets also impinged on the L5 nerve at it passed through the lateral recesses (or space adjacent to the foramen). (App. 82, 126, & 188-189).

³By stipulation, the parties have waived the requirement of formal expert reports. Sup. Ct. Civ. Pro. Rule 26(a)(2)(B). (App. 29).

two primary liability opinions. He has opined that the national standard of care for a neurosurgeon, with similar training and experience, situated in similar circumstances as Dr. Nayer, is that a neurosurgeon is required to remove hypertrophic (overgrown) bone and ligament and other soft tissue to achieve the goal of decompression of the dural sleeve and exiting nerve roots in the lateral recesses and proximal neural foraminal. A nerve is decompressed "when you can look at it through its path from where it exits the dural sac to where it exits the foramen and that you've assured that you've removed all of the overhanging and compressive tissue." (App. 82-84 & 145-146).⁴

He has also opined that a neurosurgeon, under a national standard of care, is required to order repeat MRI imaging in follow-up when a patient undergoes a lumbar laminectomy without significant improvement of symptoms and continues to experience significant pain (only %50 improvement while on medication with increased pain when walking) to a degree that a patient remains disabled. (App. 82,

⁴Of note, Dr. Nayer's breach was substantial and highly apparent because only a very limited amount of medial facet tissue/bone was removed and the subject nerves remained severely compressed. In fact, a subsequent MRI of 2019 and Cat Scan of 2021, based on straight surgical margins, revealed minimal surgical removal of medial facet joint tissue/bone and significant neural compression. (App. 82-83, 95-96, 99-100 & 133-135). Given the serious nature of the breach, it was not just a matter of surgical judgment, as Defendant contends, to conduct such a substandard procedure.

100, 122-125 & 155).⁵ Specifically, Dr. Holmes clarified, under the facts of this case, that it was a breach of the national standard of care not to order a repeat MRI promptly in follow-up by the time of the last post-operative visit on November 17, 2017.⁶ (App. 96, 100, 122-125 & 155)⁷

In his report of September 13, 2021, Dr. Holmes stated that for over 25 years he has had significant clinical neurosurgical experience in the "management of spinal disease and performance of spinal surgery, including lumbar laminectomy, as well as follow-up care and management of patients following laminectomy."

(App. 80)⁸ He also stated that he was "board certified in the specialty of neurosurgery" and that he was a member of the American Board of Neurological

⁵Under either theory of negligence, Dr. Nayer would be liable. See DC Standard Jury Instruction 5.12 (Cause Defined) (plaintiff only needs to establish that defendant's negligence was a cause of plaintiff's damages)

⁶In deposition, Dr. Holmes testified that, as of the November 17, 2007 visit, MRI imaging was required "at that time" in follow-up. (App. 124-125). By summary judgment affidavit, Dr. Holmes expounded on his opinion and clarified that further imaging was required "promptly" after the postoperative visit of November 17 to meet the standard of care. (App. 100).

⁷Dr. Holmes has also opined that the foregoing breaches and departures from the national standard of care directly and proximately caused Plaintiff to sustain permanent lumbar neurological injury with resultant disabling back and leg pain rendering him medically unemployable. (App. 81-83).

⁸Dr. Holmes performs approximately 2 laminectomies per week or a 100 per year. (App. 107-108).

Surgeons and the North American Spine Society. (App. 80). Dr. Holmes further explicitly stated: "I have regularly attended national neurosurgery conferences where spinal decompression surgery, including laminectomy procedures, were discussed and reviewed. (App. 80) (emphasis added). Lastly, he has stated that "I am highly familiar with the national standard of care in cases of lumbar spine surgery." (App. 80).

In his Supplemental Rule 26 Disclosure, Plaintiff further expounded on the basis of Dr. Holmes' opinions:

Dr. Holmes will testify on the issues of standard of care, causation and damages. Dr. Holmes' opinions are based, *inter alia*, on his review of Plaintiff's medical history, including facts and circumstances surrounding Plaintiff's surgery on July 19, 2017; his review of produced medical records and imaging studies; his physical examination of the Plaintiff; his review of applicable medical literature; his review of discovery materials including the below depositions; his education, knowledge, training, and experience in his field of neurosurgery; and *his regular attendance at national neurosurgical conference where consensus of the applicable standard of care for laminectomy procedures are reached and discussed.* (App. 94-95)¹⁰

⁹On page 6 of his report, Dr. Holmes stated that his opinions where based on his knowledge and education in his field. This knowledge would also include knowledge obtained through attendance at national neurosurgical as referenced on page 2 his report. (App. 80 & 84).

¹⁰While Plaintiff did provide a formal expert report with his initial expert disclosure, Plaintiff's Supplemental Rule 26 Disclosure is properly part of the summary judgment record because the parties stipulated to waive the formal expert report requirement of Rule 26. (App. 29).

(emphasis added)

Dr. Holmes has further directly relied on authoritative medical literature to establish the basis for his opinion that that the national standard of care requires a neurosurgeon to decompress adequately the exiting nerves (in lateral recesses and proximal neural foramina) to achieve decompression-- and that Dr. Nayer breached the standard because he only removed a very limited amount of medial facet tissue/bone--thereby negligently leaving the subject nerve roots severely compressed. (App. 82-83, 95-96, 99-100, 126-128, & 145-146). ¹¹

Dr. Holmes relied upon H. Hunt Batjer, M.D. et. al, *Textbook of Neurological Surgery*, Lumbar Spinal Stenosis and Laminectomy (Chap.149) ¹² and R. Pluta, M.D. et al., *Lumbar Facetectomy*, Medscape (2018). (App. 158-178). Dr. Batjer's textbook supports that adequate decompression (by removal of

¹¹Contrary to Defendant's suggestions, Dr. Holmes has clarified how the concept of surgical judgment applies to the instant case. As explained in deposition and his summary judgment affidavit, the standard requires a neurosurgeon to remove compressing bone and tissue which is the goal of the surgery. While a surgeon, as a general matter, can leave compressing bone and tissue in the operative field for a valid surgical reason, there is no evidence of any such reason in this case. Dr. Nayer, as a defense, has also not offered any such reason for leaving the nerves substantially compressed in the surgical field. (App. 99-100 & 111-113).

¹²Dr. Holmes has testified that the foregoing literature is authoritative. (App. 103-104). A jury can also infer that the textbook has a national scope because it is a medical textbook published by a national publisher with multiple national and international locations. (App. 158).

tissue/bone) is achieved only when the nerve root is visualized as decompressed in its entirety from emergence from the thecal sac to the exiting point below the pedicle. (App. 164-165).¹³ Similarly, Dr. Pluta's publication states that decompression is only achieved if a rounded instrument can pass without resistance through the applicable foramen to confirm decompression.¹⁴ (App 175).¹⁵

¹³As explained by Dr. Holmes, while the above textbook was written in 2003, there is substantially no difference in the basic procedures for performing an open laminectomy in 2003 versus one in 2017. (App. 128-129). Lumbar laminectomy is a commonly performed and straightforward neurosurgical procedure --the evident goal of which remains to remove tissue/bone to free up compressed nerves. (App. 82). A reasonable jury could also infer that Dr. Batjer's textbook reflected the standard of care in 2017 because Dr. Holmes has also testified that he considered Dr. Batjer's textbook to be reasonably reliable source in the neurological surgery area in 2017 (time of surgical procedure) and 2021 (time of Dr. Holmes' deposition). (App. 103-104).

¹⁴A court can also take judicial notice of the readily determinable fact that Medscape (the publisher of Dr. Pluta's paper) is a national (and global) publisher of authoritative professional education literature with a strict and accurate editorial policy. See www.Medscape.com (See also App. 399-401). Notably, a jury could also infer that Dr. Pluta's publication, written in 2018, corroborates Dr. Holmes testimony that the basic laminectomy procedure remains unchanged particularly with respect to the basic goal of releasing compressed nerves. (App. 168-178).

¹⁵Dr. Holmes also stated that he subscribes and regularly reviews the Journal of Neurosurgery, Neurosurgery, Contemporary Neurosurgery, and Clinical Neurosurgery. These publications are readily determinable (and on their face) to be known authoritative and national neurosurgery journals See Journal of Neurosurgery (https://thejns.org)(authoritative national journal of the American Association of Neurological Surgeons); Neurosurgery (journals.lww.com/neurosurgery) (authoritative national journal for Congress of

As to Plaintiff's course of treatment and persistent pain level, Plaintiff remained hospitalized at Medstar Georgetown University Hospital (MGUH) for two weeks following his surgery until August 3, 2017. (App. 194). Plaintiff was then hospitalized at Medstar National Rehabilitation Hospital (MNRH) until August 11, 2017.)(App 258). Plaintiff was discharged from MGUH while taking Gabapentin, Oxycodone, and Tramadol. (App. 202-203) Because of Plaintiff's increased pain symptoms, the providers at MNRH doubled his dosage of Gabapentin to 600 mg. (App 260). At discharge from MNRH on August 11, 2017, Plaintiff complained of pain at level 8. (App. 264).

On August 16, 2017, Plaintiff commenced physical therapy at MNRH. Two

Neurological Surgeons); Contemporary Neurosurgery (journals.lww.com/contempneurosurgery)(authoritative journal written by leading specialist); Clinical Neurosurgery https://www.cns.org/publications/clincal-neurosurgery) (supplement to Neurosurgery and compilation of Congress of Neurological Surgeons national annual meeting). (See also App. 395-398)

¹⁶Patients in Plaintiff's age group are usually released within 24 hours following a laminectomy. (App. 105-106).

¹⁷It is uncommon in Plaintiff's age group to be impaired enough following a laminectomy to required inpatient rehabilitation for loss of function and pain. (App. 114).

¹⁸Gabapentin is a drug for nerve pain. (App. 332-333). Oxycodone and tramadol are opioid-based pain relievers.

¹⁹A dosage of 600 mg is high and most post-surgical patients only require a lower dosage. (App. 147).

days before Plaintiff's first post-operative visit to Dr. Nayer on August 18, 2017, the physical therapist reported back and leg pain at a level "8-9" notwithstanding Plaintiff being significantly medicated. (App. 217). At Plaintiff's initial visit (only a week after being discharged from rehabilitation hospital), however, Dr. Nayer claimed that Plaintiff stated he had 100% improvement in pain. (App. 207). Plaintiff denies this history and recalls a pain level of 7-8. (App. 62-65). Physical therapy records of November 7 and 16, 2017 reflect ongoing pain (6/10 and 5/10 while still on medication). (App. 242 & 246). At Plaintiff's next postoperative visit, three months later, on November 17, 2017, there was 50% improvement with Plaintiff's preoperative pain level. (App. 210).²⁰

Plaintiff's Police and Fire Clinic records also support Plaintiff's persistent back/leg symptomology. On August 18, 2017, John Reilly, M.D. reported improvement but noted "sciatic like pain bilaterally partially relieved by Tramadol and Gabapentin." (App. 213). On November 27, 2017, Dr. Reilly reported persistent and minimally improved pain in bilateral anterior thighs and that Plaintiff's condition had hit a plateau. Dr. Reilly referred Plaintiff to pain management. (App. 215).

²⁰Plaintiff's preoperative pain was at a level "10". (App. 204).

On November 30, 2017, Plaintiff presented to Matthew D. Maxwell, M.D. for pain management. At that time, Plaintiff reported that his continued pain interfere with his rehabilitation and daily function. Dr. Maxwell noted pain with lumbar flexion/extension and positive facet loading test.²¹ Dr. Maxwell prescribed Nucynta and Lyrica.²² (App. 269-271).

²¹Facet loading test (Kemp test) determines if facet impingement is causing neurological pain. (App. 334).

²²Nucynta is a strong opioid prescription used to manage severe pain. Lyrica is indicated to treat spinal cord nerve pain. (App. 328-331).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiff has Established a Proper Foundation and Basis for his Knowledge of The National Standard of Care for Laminectomy Procedures Based on Dr. Holmes' Participation in National Conferences, Membership in National Boards and Organizations, and References to Literature/Publications

An expert can establish that a particular course of treatment is followed nationally by laying a foundation and testifying as to the basis for his knowledge of the national standard of care. Hill v. Medlantic Health Care Group, 933 A.2d 314, 319 (D.C. 2007)(expert not providing personal opinion where he is providing an independent basis for his knowledge of the applicable national standard of care). The proper foundation and basis can be established through testimony concerning an expert's "certification process, [review of] current literature, conference or discussion with other knowledgeable professionals, any of which would have been legally sufficient to establish a basis for [expert's] discussion of the national standard of care." Strickland v. Pinder, 899 A.2d 770,774 (D.C. 2006)(emphasis added). Accordingly, once an expert states "the basis for his or her knowledge of the national standard of care, he may state what the national standard of care is." Coulter v. Gerald Family Care, P.C., 964 A.2d 170, 189 (D.C. 2009).

Here, Dr. Holmes has established a proper foundation and basis because he has regularly attended national neurosurgery conferences where laminectomy procedures were discussed and reviewed; he is board certified in the specialty of

neurosurgery and a member of the American Board of Neurological Surgeons and the North American Spine Society; and he has relied on authoritative and national literature, directly on point, to establish a basis for his national standard of care testimony.

The Trial Court Improperly Substituted its Judgement for the Jury When Concluding That Plaintiff had 100 % Improvement at First Post-Operative Visit

The trial court concluded that there was no genuine issue of fact with respect to Plaintiff's 100% improvement in pain level during his first post-operative visit (i.e., August 18, 2017), and that, therefore, Dr. Nayer did not have to take any action to order an MRI. Plaintiff's initial pain level is disputed, and a classic question of fact, because Plaintiff denied that he reported to Dr. Nayer that he was pain free; a physical therapist reported that Plaintiff's pain level was 8-9 (notwithstanding that Plaintiff was significantly medicated) only two days before Dr. Nayer's first post-operative visit; Plaintiff had also just been discharge from rehabilitation care only a week before (where providers doubled Plaintiff's Gabapentin dosage because of increased pain); and providers had ordered, at that juncture, that Plaintiff undergo outpatient pain management. Accordingly, weighing all this evidence together, a jury could reject Dr. Nayer's testimony, and credit Plaintiff's testimony, finding that Plaintiff was experiencing significant pain (that Dr. Nayer knew, or should have known about) at his first post-operative visit.

Moreover, the trial court did not focus on the postoperative visit of November 17, 2017, and Plaintiff's condition at that time, which was a key operative fact related to Dr. Holmes' opinion regarding the prompt reordering of an MRI. Because Plaintiff undisputedly reported in November 2017 that he was experiencing only 50% improvement in his pre-operative pain and changes in his clinical presentation (increased pain while walking), this change in condition would negate the trial court's reasoning that there could be no breach just because Dr. Nayer was allegedly told that there was 100% improvement in preoperative pain at the first visit. Accordingly, even if Plaintiff's pain level was 100% improved initially (which Plaintiff contests), that improvement did not last and the change in plaintiff's symptoms was the ultimate condition that Dr. Naver had a duty to evaluate, and thereupon order additional imaging to meet the national standard of care.

Dr. Holmes has Set Forth an Opinion for the Ordering of Additional Imaging with a Time Frame Sufficient For Dr. Nayer to Measure his Actions

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