Clerk of the Court

Received 02/18/2025 01:58 PM Filed 02/18/2025 01:58 PM

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

### Case Nos. 23-CV-777 & 24-CV-562

### MICHAEL A. SARACO

Appellant

v.

### MEDSTAR-GEORGETOWN MEDICAL CENTER, INC.

Appellee

On Appeal from the Superior Court for the District of Columbia (The Honorable Ebony M. Scott) Case No. 2020 CA 004379 M

### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

\*Janet A. Forero (DC Bar #422014) Sean L. Gugerty (DC Bar #888273586) Goodell, DeVries, Leech & Dann, LLP One South Street, 20<sup>th</sup> Floor Baltimore, Maryland 21202 Telephone: (410) 783-4000 Fax: (410) 783-4040 jforero@gdldlaw.com sgugerty@gdldlaw.com

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Court has consistently held that an expert in a medical malpractice action must lay out what the standard of care requires, to give jurors a baseline measurement they can use to weigh whether the defendant committed a breach. Further, an expert must link his opinions to supporting national sources, such as literature or discussions at national conferences, and show *how* those sources support that the national standard of care is what the expert says it is.

Here, the trial court was well within its discretion to exclude Dr. Holmes' opinions—because he failed to meet those threshold requirements as to any of his standard of care opinions.

Dr. Holmes acknowledged that surgeons performing a laminectomy can, in some circumstances, make a judgment call to leave some overgrown bone and tissue. Yet he failed to explain what those circumstances were, when they might arise, or how to objectively determine when a doctor crosses the line from surgical judgment into negligence. Thus, the opinion fails to articulate a measurable standard of care—it fails to provide jurors with a yardstick they could use to objectively weigh whether Dr. Nayar's allegedly leaving some excess bone and tissue was negligent, as opposed to reflecting reasonable surgical judgment. Further, Dr. Holmes failed to adequately link his testimony to supporting national sources and show how those sources support him—leaving this Court with no

- 17 -

evidence, beyond Dr. Holmes' bare word, that the national standard of care matches Dr. Holmes' description of it.

Dr. Holmes' post-operative MRI opinions are also inadmissible, for similar reasons. While Dr. Holmes ultimately asserted that an MRI should have been ordered "promptly" after the second post-operative visit, court after court has found that "promptly" is context-dependent and does not mean "immediately." Thus, a juror could not determine from use of the word "promptly" when the national standard of care required Dr. Nayar to order an MRI. Further, Dr. Holmes simply did not say that any journals he reviewed or discussions at national conferences addressed post-operative care after a laminectomy—a fatal gap in the foundation for his MRI opinions. And even assuming *arguendo* that one of those sources might have addressed post-operative MRIs, Dr. Holmes once again failed to draw an adequate link and explain how sources he reviewed support his position that a post-operative MRI was mandatory.

As noted above, once the trial court had made the discretionary decision to exclude Dr. Holmes' opinions, it then entered summary judgment in favor of the Hospital. That grant of summary judgment was legally correct, because it is wellsettled that Mr. Saraco required admissible expert support as to the standard of care to state a *prima facie* case for malpractice. The trial court also appropriately denied Mr. Saraco's motion for reconsideration, rejecting arguments that he had previously raised and declining to consider a belated second affidavit for Dr. Holmes (a decision that even Mr. Saraco declined to challenge on appeal).

The trial court's rulings should be sustained.

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. Standard of review.

A separate standard of review applies to each of the trial court's key decisions: its exclusion of Dr. Holmes' opinions, grant of summary judgment, and denial of reconsideration.

The trial court's exclusion of Dr. Holmes' opinions is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Russell v. Call/D, LLC*, 122 A.3d 860, 867 (D.C. 2015); *see also Motorola Inc. v. Murray*, 147 A.3d 751, 755 (D.C. 2016) ("The abuse of discretion standard of review applies, regardless of whether the trial court decided to admit or exclude scientific evidence." (citations omitted)). Under an abuse of discretion review, "the trial court's decision will be 'sustained unless it is manifestly erroneous." *Russell*, 122 A.3d at 867 (citations omitted).

If this Court concludes that the trial court acted within its discretion and committed no manifest error in excluding Dr. Holmes' opinions, this Court should then apply *de novo* review to decide if the exclusion of Mr. Saraco's sole expert warranted summary judgment. *Russell*, 122 A.3d at 873.

Lastly, the trial court's denial of Mr. Saraco's motion for reconsideration is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Dist. No. 1 -- Pac. Coast Dist., Marine Eng'rs' Ben. Ass'n v. Travelers Cas. & Sur. Co.*, 782 A.2d 269, 278 (D.C. 2001). At the reconsideration stage, that discretion is especially broad. A trial court may decline to consider "new argument[s] and new facts" when the party moving for reconsideration has no justification for not presenting them earlier. *Id.* at 279.

# II. The trial court correctly precluded Dr. Holmes' standard of care opinion as to the performance of the laminectomy.

# A. Dr. Holmes failed to explain what the standard of care requires for a surgeon performing a laminectomy.

The trial court correctly found that Dr. Holmes failed to articulate a measurable national standard of care. (App. 39-40.) As described above, at deposition and in his signed affidavit, Dr. Holmes acknowledged that a surgeon performing a laminectomy can appropriately rely on "surgical judgment" to leave some compressive bone or tissue depending on the "[s]urgical circumstances." (App. 99-100, ¶ 3, App. 112-13.) Yet he never identified the circumstances when that would be appropriate, or those when it would not. Because of that omission, "the trier of fact cannot discern (without much conjecture) at what point Dr. Nayar's conduct deviated from reasonable surgical judgment to negligence." (App. 39-40.)

In his brief on appeal, Mr. Saraco failed to challenge this part of the trial court's ruling, and has thereby waived the point. Further, even if this Court reaches the merits, it is well-settled that an expert who fails to articulate a measurable standard of care should be excluded.

# **1.** Mr. Saraco has waived any challenge to exclusion of Dr. Holmes' laminectomy opinion for failure to articulate the standard of care.

In his opening brief, Mr. Saraco did not contest the trial court's exclusion of the laminectomy opinion based on Dr. Holmes' failure to explain when incomplete removal of bone/tissue crosses the line from surgical judgment to negligence. Therefore, Mr. Saraco has waived the right to contest that point. *Gant v. Lynne Experience Ltd.*, 325 A.3d 407, 417 (D.C. 2024) (appellant who appealed from grant of summary judgment has "certainly has abandoned any particular points" that she failed to make in her opening brief). That, alone, is sufficient ground for this Court to sustain the trial court's exclusion of the opinion.

# 2. The trial court correctly analyzed Dr. Holmes' opinion as later modified in his sworn testimony and affidavit.

Further, the trial court was correct to evaluate Dr. Holmes' opinion as modified at deposition and in his signed affidavit. In *Allen v. District of Columbia*, 312 A.3d 207 (D.C. 2024), this Court addressed a grant of summary judgment in a purported class action. The plaintiff alleged that pre-addressed envelopes sent out by the District along with traffic tickets (to facilitate payment of the tickets) were highly susceptible to being rejected by the U.S. Postal Service. *Id.* at 208. The plaintiff's expert "had to ultimately backtrack from his initial opinion that the preaddressed envelope came pre-printed with an invalid IMB code," "abandoned that view[,]" and shifted to a new criticism in his supplemental report and deposition that the use of red-color ink on the envelopes led them to be rejected in the mail. *Id.* at 213. This Court held that the trial court appropriately considered the expert's opinions as modified during discovery, and correctly excluded the opinions and granted summary judgment because the new red-ink opinion was a "bare" and "conclusory" assertion, without any valid reasoning or supporting basis. *Id.*<sup>20</sup>

Applying the holding of *Allen* here, the trial court was well within its discretion to consider Dr. Holmes' opinions as modified during his deposition and the affidavit attached to Mr. Saraco's opposition to the summary judgment motion. Mr. Saraco evidently agrees, as he repeatedly referenced and relied upon that affidavit in his brief. (*See* Mr. Saraco Br. at 6 n.6, 8 n.11, 27 n.31, 29-31.)

# **3.** Dr. Holmes' failure to articulate a standard of care is fatal under well-established law in this District.

Additionally, under well-established precedent, the trial court was well within its discretion to exclude Dr. Holmes' opinion due to his failure to explain when

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> See also Royal Ins. Co. of Am. v. Miles & Stockbridge, P.C., 138 F. Supp. 2d 695, 701 (D. Md. 2001) ("[S]ummary judgment is proper when a plaintiff's expert testifies at deposition that a defendant's conduct was not a breach of the standard of care, regardless of the expert's initial conclusions concerning certain conduct.").

leaving some bone or tissue during a laminectomy crosses the line from reasonable surgical judgment into negligence.

"In a medical malpractice case, the plaintiff has the burden of proving the applicable standard of care, a deviation from that standard by the defendant, and a causal relationship between that deviation and the plaintiff's injury." *Derzavis v. Bepko*, 766 A.2d 514, 519 (D.C. 2000). For cases involving surgical decisions that call for "the exercise of professional skill and judgment," it is well-settled that "expert testimony [is] required to make a *prima facie* showing" as to the standard of care and breach. *Id.* (citations omitted.) The "purpose of expert testimony [on the standard of care] is to avoid jury findings based on mere conjecture or speculation." *Nwaneri v. Sandidge*, 931 A.2d 466, 470 (D.C. 2007) (citations omitted).

In *Hawes v. Chua*, 769 A.2d 797 (D.C. 2001), this Court thoroughly analyzed existing precedent on the admissibility of expert evidence on the national standard of care, and concluded that "in this jurisdiction, at least seven legal principles are important in assessing the sufficiency of national standard of care proof." *Id.* at 806. The first principle is that "the standard of care focuses on '*the course of action* that a reasonably prudent doctor with the defendant's specialty would have taken under the same or similar circumstances." *Id.* (quoting *Meek v. Shepard*, 484 A.2d 579, 581 (D.C. 1984) (emphasis added).) Thus, a medical malpractice expert must, at a bare minimum, explain what course of action the standard of care requires for a given

procedure. See id.; see also Nwaneri, 931 A.2d at 470; Strickland v. Pinder, 899 A.2d 770, 773 (D.C. 2006); Derzavis, 766 A.2d at 520.

The rationale for that principle of law is straightforward. "[D]octors do not and cannot guarantee results, [and] the mistakes that a particular doctor makes are not actionable unless they cause the doctor's performance to fall below the applicable standard of care." *Meek*, 484 A.2d at 581. Thus, without an adequate explanation of what the standard of care required, the danger is that the jury may improperly speculate that the doctor is liable merely because the plaintiff experienced an unfortunate result.<sup>21</sup>

This Court has affirmed the exclusion of a plaintiff's expert who failed to explain *what*, specifically, the standard of care required a defendant to do. In *Derzavis v. Bepko*, 766 A.2d 514, this Court addressed criticisms of negligence for use of a "Cytobrush" tool during a routine Pap smear. *Id.* at 516. The Court held that "the only applicable standard of care that Ms. Derzavis' expert identified . . . was that a doctor should know how to use a Cytobrush correctly. . . <u>but she never stated what that 'correct use' was</u>." *Id.* at 520 (emphasis added). That testimony "was not sufficient to establish the applicable standard of care." *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Indeed, the concept that physicians must be judged against the national standard of care and not merely an unfortunate result is so fundamental that it is embodied in a pattern jury instruction that "[a] doctor . . . is not negligent simply because [his] [her] efforts are not successful...."). Standard Civil Jury Instructions for D.C., § 9.06 (rev. ed. 2003); *see also Wild v. Alster*, 377 F. Supp. 2d 186, 190 (D.D.C. 2005).

*Derzavis* squarely applies to Dr. Holmes' laminectomy standard of care opinion. Dr. Holmes acknowledged that leaving some residual bone/tissue can be within the standard of care and non-negligent depending on the "surgical circumstances" (App. 99-100,  $\P$  3), but never stated *what* those circumstances were. Thus, his testimony likewise "was not sufficient to establish the applicable standard of care[,]" and was properly excluded. *See Derzavis*, 766 A.2d at 520.

This Court's precedent from other types of tort actions also supports exclusion of Dr. Holmes' opinion. Indeed, Mr. Saraco has conceded that it is "settled" law that an expert must articulate a standard of care opinion "that is sufficient to allow a defendant's actions to be measured against." (Mr. Saraco Br. at 16 (citing Sullivan v. AboveNet Communs., Inc., 112 A.3d 347, 357-58 (D.C. 2015).) To give a measurable opinion, "at the very least the expert must be specific as to what standards were violated and how they were violated." Sullivan, 112 A.3d at 358 (citing District of Columbia v. Carmichael, 577 A.2d 312, 314 (D.C. 1990)). Mere "[g]eneralized references" to national standards are insufficient[.]" Id. (citing Briggs v. Wash. Metro. Area Transit Auth., 481 F.3d 839, 846 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (collecting other D.C. cases).) Because Dr. Holmes never explained how a jury could objectively determine when a surgeon performing a laminectomy crosses the line from permissible surgical judgment to negligence, he failed to set forth a measurable standard of care, as required by Sullivan, Carmichael, and Briggs.

4. Cases applying the *Daubert* standard further reinforce that Dr. Holmes' laminectomy standard of care opinion is inadmissible.

### i. Under *Daubert*, courts apply gatekeeping scrutiny for whether an expert opinion is reliable and relevant.

In *Motorola Inc. v. Murray*, 147 A.3d 751 (2016), this Court adopted the standard for the admission of expert testimony established by Federal Rule of Evidence (FRE) 702 and *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579 (1993). The Court explained that expert testimony must be assessed using the "*Daubert* trilogy," as embodied in the versions of FRE 702 revised in 2000 and 2011. The Court recognized that "[e]xpert evidence can be both powerful and quite misleading because of [jurors'] difficulty in evaluating it" and requires appropriate scrutiny. *Motorola*, 147 A.3d at 754-55. For that reason, the trial court exercises a "robust gatekeeping function" with the "objective . . . to make certain that an expert . . . employs in the courtroom the same level of intellectual rigor that characterizes the practice of an expert in the relevant field." *Id.* at 755 (internal citations omitted).

The primary focus is whether the expert testimony is sufficiently *reliable* to be admitted. *Motorola*, 147 A.3d at 754. The trial court must look primarily at the expert's reasoning and methodology. *Id.* (citing *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 593-94). But "conclusions and methodology are not entirely distinct from one another," and a trial court can properly preclude "*ipse dixit*" opinions that display "too great an analytical gap between the data and the opinion proffered." *Id.* at 755 (citing *General Electric* 

*Co. v. Joiner*, 522 U.S. 136, 146 (1997)). As stated in the commentary to FRE 702, "[t]he trial court's gatekeeping function requires more than simply taking the expert's word for it." FRE 702 Advisory Comm. Note 2000 (citations omitted).

Additionally, a trial court must ensure that the expert testimony is *relevant* to the issues in dispute. *Motorola*, 147 A.3d at 755 (citing *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 597). The Supreme Court described this prong of the inquiry as one of "fit," *i.e.*, whether the proposed expert testimony fits the facts of the case and will be of assistance to the trier of fact. *Daubert*, 509 U.S. at 591. "Expert testimony which does not relate to any issue in the case is not relevant and, ergo, non-helpful." *Id.* (citations omitted); *see also Garlinger v. Hardee's Food Sys.*, 16 F. App'x 232 (4th Cir. 2001) (excluding expert testimony as not relevant under *Daubert*/FRE 702).

Importantly, under FRE 702, "[t]he proponent of the expert testimony bears the burden to establish the admissibility of the testimony" as sufficiently reliable and relevant. *United States v. McGill*, 815 F.3d 846, 903 (D.C. Cir. 2016).<sup>22</sup>

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